
1 
 

INLAND WETLANDS COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MINUTES 
July 27, 2022 @ 7:30 p.m. 

Council Chambers, Newtown Municipal Center 
3 Primrose Street, Newtown CT 

 
These Minutes are subject to approval by the Inland Wetland Commission 

 
Present:  Sharon Salling, Craig Ferris, Mike McCabe, Scott Jackson, Suzanne Guidera 
 
Staff Present:  Steve Maguire, Senior Land Use Enforcement Officer, Dawn Fried, Clerk 
 
Ms. Salling opened the meeting at 7:30 p.m. 
 
PENDING APPLICATION 
 
IW Application #21‐16 by 19 Commerce Road, LLC, property located at 19 Commerce Road, to 
construct a self‐storage facility with 5 buildings and 37,000+ sq. ft. of regulated activity including 
grading, filling and construction. 
 
Mr. McCabe read the legal notice for the record. 
 
Ms. Salling asked Mr. Maguire whether the applicant submitted the revised site plans.  Mr. Maguire 
stated yes.  The Commission had no further questions. 
 
Mr. Ferris moved to approve IW Application #21‐16 by 19 Commerce Road, LLC, property located at 19 
Commerce Road, to construct a self‐storage facility with 5 buildings and 37,000+ sq. ft. of regulated 
activity including grading, filling and construction, with standard conditions A, B, C, D, E, F, L & P.   
 
The approved plans are:  Site Improvements 19 Commerce Road LLC, 19 Commerce Road, Newtown, 
Connecticut dated revised July 11, 2022 and all supporting documents.  Mr. McCabe seconded.  All in 
favor.   
 
 
PUBLIC HEARING 
 
IW Application #22‐14 by Farrell Building Company, property located at 90 Mt. Pleasant Road, to 
construct 11 Garden Apartment buildings, one clubhouse, and associated site improvements including 
driveways, parking and stormwater management. 
 
Mr. McCabe read the legal notice for the record. 
 
Ms. Salling gave an overview of the Public Hearing process.   
 



2 
 

Mr. Ferris moved to accept Patrick Napolitano as an Intervenor.  Mr. Jackson seconded.  
Ms. Salling – Aye 
Mr. Jackson – Aye 
Ms. Guidera – Nay 
Mr. McCabe – Aye 
Mr. Ferris – Aye 
The motion passed 4 to 1 in favor of accepting Patrick Napolitano as an Intervenor. 
 
Attorney Robert Hall, 43 Main Street, Newtown, represented the applicant.  Atty. Hall gave an 
overview of the property and explained the property was previously approved for medical office 
buildings in 2018. 
 
Atty. Hall submitted a document outlining three subjects; the approval of the application, the overview 
of the prior approval on the property and a request for the Commission to deny Patrick Napolitano’s 
intervenor status.  See attached document. 
 
Atty. Hall submitted the following documents for the record.  See attached. 

1.  The certified abutter mailers. 
2.  Copies of the 2018 approved plans 
3.  Resumes of JMC LLC Staff:  James Ryan, Principal, Anthony Nester, Associate Principal, Paul    

 Dumont, PE, Design Manager.  James McManus, JMM Wetland Consulting Services, LLC. 
 
Mr. James Ryan, RLA, Principal, and Mr. Paul Dumont, PE, Design Manager, both of JMC LLC, Armonk 
NY, represented the applicant.  Mr. Ryan stated the applicant, Farrell Building Company, has newly 
constructed buildings located in Sandy Hook.  Mr. Ryan stated the rental apartments are doing well.  
 
Mr. Ryan along with Mr. Dumont highlighted a Power Point presentation.  See attached. 
 
Atty. Hall compared the approved application in 2018 with the current proposal.  Atty. Hall asked the 
Commission to consider that the current proposal has significantly less impact on the wetlands 
compared to the approved 140‐acre development four years ago.  
 
Atty. Hall gave an overview of his memorandum titled “Memorandum in Support of Farrell Building 
Application”, dated July 27, 2022, please see attached. 
 
Atty. Hall submitted a 2018 site plan for the record from BL Companies.  The site plan outlines the 
isolated pocket wetland, designations C1, C2, C3, C4, C5.   
 
James McManus, CPSS, JMM Wetland Consulting Services, LLC, Newtown, CT, stated he originally 
delineated the property in the summer 2015.   In 2018 another delineation was done by Davis 
Environmental.  A report submitted by Davis Environmental, dated June 23, 2018, showed that  
Mr. McManus’s old flags were used to delineate the wetlands.   During Mr. McManus’s site walk in the 
summer of 2015 he came across a small isolated wetland pocket, C‐Series wetlands, which was not on 
the Davis Environment report.  In March of 2022, Mr. McManus revisited the site to familiarize himself 
with the property and to update his records and photographs, which he added to the wetland 



3 
 

assessment report.  Mr. McManus gave a detailed overview of the wetlands, the functions and values, 
and the erosion and control plan described in the Wetland/Assessment report dated April 28, 2022.  
See attached. 
 
Mr. Hall reiterated Mr. McManus’s findings and stated that this project will not have a significant 
adverse impact to the wetlands and it falls within the parameters of the previous approval.   
Mr. Hall asked the Commission to act favorably on the application. 
 
Mr. McCabe asked to see additional information regarding the stormwater management plan.   
Mr. Dumont stated the stormwater management plan was submitted.  He then gave a brief overview.  
Mr. McCabe noted there are no additional flows going into the wetlands but asked if there is a 
reduction of flow.  Mr. Dumont stated yes there is a reduction of the rate of flow, but not a reduction 
in the volume.  Mr. McCabe ask if the basins infiltrate.  Mr. Dumont responded yes. 
 
Ms. Salling has concerns that the reduced rates of flow will dry up up the wetland fingers.  Mr. Dumont 
responded the water volumes are maintained but the rates are reduced.  Ms. Salling asked  
Mr. McManus if he was satisfied that the effort has been made to preserve the wetland hydrology.  
Mr. McManus stated yes, the engineers are designing the project to release the same amount of 
volume.  Mr. Ryan stated they are trying to design an environmentally sensitive property.  It is a 
collaborative effort. 
 
Mr. Ferris asked where the volumes of water go.  Mr. Ryan responded its part of the infiltration system 
and will evaporate.  Mr. Ferris suggested instead of using infiltration basins can they use recharging 
gallery stations.  Mr. Dumont stated infiltration systems are a preferred method because of the 
advantage of the open air system.  Also, it’s easier to access and maintain the water quality treatment.  
 
Mr. Ferris asked about water quality and how it will be handled with fertilizers.  Mr. Ryan stated there 
will be a management treatment program in place.  Mr. Ryan explained that Farrell maintains the 
common areas and are responsible, good neighbors who are environmentally sensitive and 
conscientious.  Mr. Ryan will provide a report of the maintenance plan. 
 
Ms. Guidera asked whether any considerations have been made to remove the invasives species in the 
wetlands to improve functionality.   Mr. Ryan stated yes, they can develop a program.  Mr. McManus 
stated the area is dominated by barberry.  Ms. Guidera asked whether large trees will be taken down.  
Mr. Ryan stated yes, but very few. 
 
Mr. McCabe asked where the roof‐top runoff will go.  Mr. Ryan stated directly into the stormwater 
system. 
 
Mr. Maguire asked Mr. McManus whether he was confident that the pocket wetland he found was the 
only wetland and no other wetlands on the property were missed.  Mr. McManus stated he did the 
best he could to get through the property.  Yes he is confident. 
 
Mr. Maguire asked whether the fingers of the wetlands are a result of erosion from the surface runoff 
or are seepage from the wetlands.  Mr. McManus stated the erosion is more upslope towards the 



4 
 

eastern part of the property.   Mr. Maguire asked whether they are confident the basins will 
adequately recharge the area and maintain the hydrology at the beginning of the fingers.  Mr. 
McManus stated yes.  Mr. Ryan stated the test pit results showed ground water discharge. 
 
Mr. Maguire asked whether there is a spec sheet of the composition of the basin.  Mr. Dumont stated 
yes the spec sheet details for the basin are in the landscaping plan.  Mr. Maguire asked if the soils in 
the basin are stone‐lined.  Mr. Dumont responded no, it is not stone lined.   
 
Mr. Maguire asked how the slopes of the basins, which lead to the wetlands, will be maintained.   
Mr. Ryan stated the slopes will not be a maintained lawn and will only be mowed once a year.  Mr. 
Dumont stated a low maintenance seed mix will be used.   Mr. Maguire asked whether it was possible 
to pull back the grading for additional buffering.  Mr. Dumont responded no because the 3‐to‐1 slope 
would be too steep.  
 
Mr. Maguire asked for an overview of the sediment and erosion plan and whether it will be done in 
phases.   Mr. Dumont stated it is not a phased development.  There will be a double row of silt fencing 
throughout the site, four temporary sediment basins during construction, temporary seeding and 
haying for stabilization, and the stormwater runoff will bypass the swale in order to divert upland flows 
and reduce run off. 
 
Mr. Maguire asked whether extra fill will be used.  Mr. Dumont stated no. 
 
Mr. Ferris noticed an old flag during his site visit between the outfall and the sediment basin and he 
asked Mr. McManus to take a look at the area and explain the flag.  
 
PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 
Gary Tannenbaum, 36 Pond Brook Road – Mr. Tannenbaum is concerned with Pond Brook’s aquifer 
constantly decreasing because of failing infiltration systems.  Mr. Tannenbaum stated that developers 
and the deeds of the land should require maintenance plans to assure its hydrodynamic separators and 
infiltration basins are maintained.  Those reports should be submitted to the town.  The comparison of 
the 2018 project and the current 2022 project should be ignored because in 2018 it was two separate 
parcels combined.  Mr. Tannenbaum recommended garages under the apartments and 3‐story 
buildings to reduce impervious surfaces.  Mr. Tannenbaum stated no developer should infringe on 
other peoples’ land rights. 
 
Michael Crisculo, 2 Pocono Road, spoke against the application, please see attached letter. 
 
Mark D’Amico, 7 Tory Lane, submitted a “Verified Petition to Intervene” document.  The Commission 
did not vote.  Mr. D’Amico also submitted a document for the record, titled “Newtown Commons 
Potential Stream and Wetland Impacts”, dated July 18, 2022, please see attached.  Mr. D’Amico spoke 
against the application, please see attached letter. 
 
Ms. Guidera asked whether it was possible to clear the area by the wetland so it can be further 
assessed.  Mr. McManus stated the wetland is tiny and the area is very dense.  Mr. Ryan previously 



5 
 

tried to clear a path with a machete.  Mr. Ryan will go back.   Ms. Salling would also appreciate a clear 
path. 
 
Mr. Ferris asked Mr. Ryan to describe the stormwater system process.  Mr. Ryan will provide a 
narrative of the system for clarity.  Mr. Maguire stated he would like a treatment train description. 
 
Ms. Salling discussed a possible third party review.  The Commission will review all of the information 
and make a decision at the next meeting. 
 
The Commission agreed the Public Hearing will remain open. 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES  
 
Regular Meeting of July 13, 2022 
 
The Commission found no substantive errors.  Mr. Jackson moved to accept the minutes from  
July 13, 2022.  Mr. Ferris seconded.  The minutes from July 13, 2022 were approved.   
 
OTHER BUSINESS 
 
Mr. Maguire spoke about Kiana Maisonet, the newly hired Land Use Officer in the Land Use Agency.   
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
With no additional business, Mr. Jackson moved to adjourn.  Ms. Guidera seconded.  All in favor.  The  
Regular IWC Meeting of July 27, 2022 was adjourned at 9:27 pm.  
 
Respectfully Submitted, Dawn Fried 




































































































































































































	IW Minutes Meeting 7-27-22
	90 Mt. Pleasant Attachment

